Editorial:                                        SURVIVORS AS AGENTS OF CHANGE

Victims of conflict react differently in different cultures. In most of the countries, the victims of the conflict have raised memorials/monuments in the names of the victims carrying the message, “We will not allow the past to be forgotten, we shall not allow it to happen to our future generations”. Recently, in the US (World Trade Center), Madrid and in the London bombings, the memorials have been raised. Not speaking of the developed and free countries, even in underdeveloped countries, the victims of the conflict are remembered in one or the other way. However in Kashmir there is no such precedent; Kashmir has a history of suppression and oppression for centuries particularly after 1989. Kashmiris are too ‘generous’ to their oppressors. Even our historians don’t know how many people were killed or injured in August 9, 1953, when the then PM was removed from the post (nearly 1500 people have reportedly have been killed). Since 1989, victims are not only the 80, 000 people who got killed but there are hundreds and thousands of victims of torture, enforced disappearances and other human rights abuses. Very few reliable surveys or documentation has been done regarding the human rights violations. The number of victims is enormous. Recently the editor was in a social gathering and just by casual conversation he learned that almost all of the persons in the gathering were victims of violence in one or the other form. They feel least concerned The worst sufferers are the people who belong to the downtrodden, dispossessed or impoverished section of the society; people who don’t know about their rights and who accept injustice as a part of the culture; people who are indoctrinated ‘what has happened, has happened, now look forward’. These victims of the conflict are more concerned about the survival of their families, they are obsessed with ex-gratia relief and jobs under SRO 43.This ‘concession’ from the government has further divided the victims and the civil society. Victims are already disorganized. There is a perception that the victims finally let down people. There are instances where hundreds and thousands of people after excesses have come to streets against the perpetrators but finally felt betrayed by the ‘compromise’ made by the victims. An instance, where after the molestation of a girl namely Hasina from Handwara, the lawyers and other sections of civil society sat on a dharna (sitin) for days together. However, they finally felt betrayed, as victims had compromised with the authorities, which the victim repeatedly denied. Few months after the Badr-Payeen rape case which invited valley wide protests and demonstrations for days together over the rape of a mother and daughter, the editor happed to visit the Badra-Payeen area with a human rights researcher, the villagers were aghast with the family for their sell-out as they had accepted the government scholarship through which the victim got admission in a Bangalore college. The government is taking successful measures in order to disconnect the victims, both socially and politically. The human rights groups besides having problems from the state invariably face similar problems with the victims. There is a deep distress and non-cooperation from the victims while the human rights groups are documenting the incidents. The perception is that human rights groups like politicians are also minting money out of the plight of victims. Few years back when APDP launched the signature campaign of victims which was later sent to the UN Working on Enforced Disappearances, the relatives keep asking, “Where is the relief”. Besides when the photographs of the disappeared persons were collected for the publication of the second edition of “Did they Vanish in Thin Air”, the relatives perceived that photographs have been sold. One young half widow who had given interviews to several journalists and even appeared the documentary film, when recently was requested to give interview to a foreign journalist; to our shock she demanded huge money. One politician turned human rights activist, arranged a interview of a torture victim with BBC correspondent few years back, few days later demanded money from the politician as he was made to believe he has received money from the BBC Correspondent.  

Victims have limited options. At the beginning, the victims repose faith on the state mechanisms. The helplessness compels them to approach politicians in their areas (who are also instrument in implicating the dissidents in false cases and later get them released, thereby the victims feel oblige forever). Some of them approach the judiciary, nearly in 80 percent cases filed in the state high courts, the victims are more after getting the compensation or getting the jobs. In rare cases, the victims want perpetrators to be taken to justice. It is amazing that the number of literate and middle class sections of the victim families are more after the relief while as the equal proportion of illiterate people(victim families) are eager to punish the perpetrators.

One of the most difficult things is to connect the victims for the collective efforts of justice. They should be front runners and behave as agents of change. To some extent, a section of the families of the desaparecidos have made a success story. It is the duty of the human rights groups and civil society to organize the victims like in other countries where the victims have fought for decades. The victims of Nazi holocaust or the Filipino victims of World War II, who were used as sex slaves by the Japanese, are still struggling for justice after sixty years. It is an irony that the perpetrators are talking about Truth and Reconciliation Commission (TRC) as TRC has set a bad precedent. TRC gives amnesty to the perpetrators. The only way for the survivors is to struggle and struggle, of course with the help of civil society for seeking justice.
TRAGIC FAMILY
Now almost 12 years have elapsed since 1995, the memories yet refuse to fade from the mind of Jana Begam, 50; a widow of Abdul Karim War who lost her four sons including one disappeared during the ongoing-armed conflict. Jana, a resident of Inderbook, Lolab, Handwara of district Kupwara, approximately 105 kilometers from Srinagar was not only victimized by the Indian troops but by the militants too. 


Besides, disappearance of her son, her two other sons were killed by the troops and Special Operations Group (SOG) of state police in a joint operation. Her one son was also killed by the militants. His husband died of the extreme shock.

 
While recalling her tragedies Jana told The Informative Missive, “My family has suffered extensively. I have lost my four sons. I made all out efforts to know the whereabouts of one of my disappeared son but so far nothing came up. Militants as well as troops ruined my family life and wrecked my life.   

In 1995, militants operating in our area often coerced me to handover my son Latief Ahmad War, 15, to join militant ranks. We always resisted but militants finally killed him at a time when we all were inside our home. Bullets were pumped in his shoulders. He was rushed to the Sogam hospital but en route he died. Three years later, in 1998, I along with my two sons Mohammad Sharif War, 15, a student of Deoband (an Islamic School) in Uttar Pradesh and Bakhtawar, 17,student of Sogam School left for Srinagar, I accompanied them up to the Kupwara market as I had to purchase some household items. I moved back to home, whereas, my sons proceeded to Daral-Uloom (Islamic School) Lal Bazaar, Srinagar. Till three days, we didn’t hear any news about them or their welfare and when we contacted Darululoom, Bilalia, Lal Bazaar, we were told they have not reached there yet”. 

“On 9-12-1998, we filed a missing report in the Kupwara police station. I also visited Lal Pul police post requesting them to trace my sons. After few days, my cousin sister, resident of Devar area informed me that at Kupwara, two dead bodies are lying in the police station. Alarmed, I visited the Kupwara police station with four persons of my village. At the police station, one Ghulam Hassan, thanedaar showed me the photos of the killed ‘militants’, I recognized that they were my sons. He also took me to the graves located at Rajpora police station. They didn’t allow the grave to be exhumed. In the same case, the then Senior Superintendent Police (SSP) Kupwara registered a FIR on 10-12-1998, which states on a specific inputs a joint posse of Special Operations Group and 129 BN troops laid an ambush at Gulgam area at around 20 hrs on 10-12-998. Sensing suspicious movements in the area, the troops challenged the militants, which triggered an encounter in which two unidentified militants were killed. In the FIR it was also claimed that arms and ammunitions were recovered from their possession. Therefore, Station House Officer (SHO) Kupwara was directed by the then SSP to investigate the matter under section 307 RPC”, told Jana. 


In the year 2001,(being illiterate, Jana doesn’t remember the exact date and time of the incident), the family received a colossal shock as Jana’s other son namely, Sharifuddin War disappeared en route when he was on his way to his in-laws to Dewas village, 1 ½ km from Margh village. 

“Since the area is highly deployed by the omnipresent army and there were almost little or no militant movement in the area and the circumstances suggested that he was subjected to disappearance by the troops”, emphasized Jana.


Regarding the killing of two sons, the family moved to the High Court to file a writ (petition no. 348/ 99). But nothing happened till date. Thereafter, the family moved to State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) where the case is still pending. In the case of son’s (Sharifuddin War) disappearance, the family has received an exgratia of rupees 1 lac (one hundred thousand) out of which his wife received rupees 12,000, Jana received rupees 13,000 and rest 75,000 rupees were deposited in the name of the Sharifuddin’s minor children namely Asam and Asgar.


“After the killing of my two sons, my husband Abdul Karim, after seeing their clothing suffered a heart attack. He was already paralytic and he died after two months. Karim was a Molana (a religious scholar). Now, all the doors seem to be closed on me and I don’t know what to do?” complains Jana.

LABOURER KILLED IN FAKE ENCOUNTER

On January25, 2007, Mohammad Yaqoob Mir, 22, son of Abdul Aziz Mir resident of Abi Nowpora, Dalgate was allegedly killed by Indian army in a fake encounter at Kralpora, Pattan, Baramulla about 40 kilometers from Srinagar. 


 Yaqoob, a laborer by profession went missing on January 21 from Maisuma area of Srinagar where he was earning his livelihood. On January 25, he was allegedly killed in a fake encounter at Kralpora, Pattan. Demonstrations were held by the residents of Dalgate area when his dead body was brought to his home. The protesters claimed that the deceased was innocent and killed in a fake encounter.

Yaqoob’s father Abdul Aziz Mir, 65, a frail person with poor eyesight while speaking to The Informative Missive said, “ On January 21, my son left for his work to Budshah Chowk, Maisuma where he was working as a laborer with his brother in law. He was a religious person offering all the five prayers every day and it was noon time when he had left for the prayers to a mosque situated at Maisuma. He had left his Phiran (traditional dress) and purse nearby. He did not come back to the work site and his fellow workers thought that he might have gone to his home because he was having a toothache. When he did not return till late night, we contacted all our relatives and the laborers working with him to ascertain his whereabouts. We also visited the Maisuma area and the mosque he had gone for prayers and enquired from the locals about Yaqoob but nothing came out. Next day on January 22 we filed a missing report bearing number 23 in the Police Station, Maisuma. Yaqoob’s disappearance was also highlighted in the newspapers. But on January 25; the most ill-fated day of our life, we received a phone call from Police Post Kralpora, Pattan and the Sub-Inspector of the concerned police post told us that Yaqoob’s dead body has been found in Pattan area of district Baramulla. I with some of my relatives rushed to the Kralpora, Pattan where I found my son’s bullet riddled dead body in a gypsy car lying in an army camp. Looking at Yaqoob’s dead body we found visible torture marks on the arms and legs and around 30 bullets had pierced his chest. We asked police about the circumstances of the killing; they replied that we were informed by the 52 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) army that they have killed a militant in a shootout in the intervening night of 24th and 25th January at Vailu Pattan. But when we contacted locals of the Vailu village, they said that they heard two gunshots followed by a barrage of bullets that lasted for few seconds. The statements itself reveals that Yaqoob was first subjected to the torture then murdered in fake gun battle”.

The news about Yaqoob’s killing in a fake encounter angered the people of entire Dalgate area and triggered a massive demonstration. The demonstrators shouted anti India, pro-freedom slogans and demanded punishment to the culprits while carrying Yaqoob’s coffin towards the graveyard. The protests also continued on January 26 and all the commercial establishments remained closed as complete shut down was observed in the area. Station House Officer (SHO) Maisuma police station, Ali Muhammad told that a murder and kidnapping case under FIR NO 61/07 section 302, 364 RPC has been registered. Army spokesman Lt. Colonel Mathur refuted the allegations. “All I know is that a militant fired upon our troops and he was killed in retaliatory fire.” 

Speaker Legislative Assembly (LA) Tara Chand ordered probe into the custodial murder of Yaqoob and directed the government to furnish the report in the ongoing session. 

Abdul Aziz further said, “On February 1, 2007 when police station Maisuma started to investigate the case, they arrested Bashir Ahmad Mir, son-in-law of Abdul Aziz and accused him for getting Yaqoob killed which is totally false and baseless. His arrest angered the residents and again protests rocked the area. Finally after the massive protests against the police, he was released in the evening. Bashir is as good as my son and Yaqoob was working with him as a laborer on the Jehlum River. Bashir resides with us in the same house and he shared the responsibilities of the household as Yaqoob did. On one hand, my son was killed by the army and on the other my son-in-law was falsely implicated in the same case by the police. Yaqoob was a released militant but after his surrender in the year 2003, he was living a life of a commoner. In the month of September 2000, he went for arms training across the Line of Control and returned back in September 2003. After his arrival without any arms, he surrendered before the Special Operations Group (SOG) of Jammu Kashmir Police Cargo, Srinagar along with another person Sajad Ahmad Malik who is at present working in the Civil Secretariat, Srinagar. The SOG personnel took him to Soura police station for which case FIR No. 100/2003 u/s 7/25 IAA stands lodged with the said police station. After 25 days he was bailed out for which the case is still pending in the court of Additional Sessions Judge”.  

“In the month of June 2004, our house was raided by the police in the evening, they asked for Yaqoob. That time Yaqoob was not present at the house. Police searched our house thoroughly and ordered us to present Yaqoob in the police station Rajbagh tomorrow. Next day he went to the police station, Rajbagh with his brother- in-law Bashir Ahmad. He was detained there and shifted to the Air Cargo SOG camp Srinagar where he was detained for 15 days and then handed over to the police station Shergari wherefrom he was shifted to central jail Srinagar. He was booked on the charges of carrying arms and ammunition in the Shiraz, Khanyar area which was totally false. The Jammu and Kashmir High Court ordered an investigation into the matter but nothing incriminating was found against him and finally he was acquitted”. 

Mumtaza, sister of the deceased Yaqoob said, “My brother was not involved in an unlawful activity after his surrender and was innocent but the ruthless troops killed him”. 

On asking whether the family will go for the legal action against the perpetrators the family replied in negative as they fear of further repercussions from the army.

BHADERWAH MASSACRE

The night of January 20, 1996, is etched in the memory of Abdul Qayoom, son of Shams-ud-Din Zargar of Dhonsa, Pani, Bhaderwah as his eight family members were killed in his house that night. Ten years have passed and nothing has been done by the state to identify the perpetrators.

 
Abdul Qayoom, a government employee with Industrial Training Institute (ITI) while recalling the ill-fated night told The Informative Missive, “On January 20, 1996, at around 9:00 pm, a group of 8 persons in police uniform forced their entry into the house of my father Shamsuddin and started searching the house. It was winter season and snow had covered the area. After searching, they forcibly took my brother Shabir, a tailor master out of the house.   

 We were just thinking about how to get Shabir free from their clutches or beg for his release, we heard some gunshots. On moving out we found him (Shabir) lying on the ground, as the bullet had pierced his head. The police accompanied by STF, CRPF and army including 6 personnel from STF fired upon my father’s (Shamsuddin) chest killing him instantly. They repeatedly asked for the militants about whom we didn’t have any knowledge. Prior to this incident the same ‘security’ officials often used to come to our house and demanded food. 


After killing my father, they turned more violent and killed other family members including minors and the family servant. The deceased were Jehangir, 10, son of Shabir, Junaid, 8, son of Shabir, Jana Begum, wife of Shamsuddin, the family servant Mohammad Aashiq and his mother Maryam. However, Sayeeda Begam, wife of Shabir who was showered with 13 bullets hitting her upper and lower limbs survived for only 7 months.

Fortunately, Shabir’s elder son Javaid survived despite receiving 3 bullets in his legs rendering him handicapped. 

Sayeeda, finally, succumbed to her injuries after 7 months time in September 1996, and during her treatment she could have identified the persons responsible for the massacre but the police showed no seriousness and were reluctant. 

 
Sayeeda Begam lodged FIR No. 140/1996 under Arms Act and 303 RPC in Bhaderwah police station. The family also approached the First Class Judicial Magistrate who directed the police station Bhaderwah to conduct the investigation. Instead conducting the investigation, the police started harassing and intimidating the family members not to pursue the case.  

Police filed FIR No 140/996 in which they have claimed that the killing was done by the militants. 

The Bhaderwah based Citizen Committee passed a resolution in which they contested the claim made by the police that the killing took place during an encounter between militants and troops. Whereas, at the time of the incident, no militant was present in the area. 

Even they claimed that one Special Police Officer (SPO) from security got injured in a friendly firing by his colleague during the massacre, which was also shielded by the police and his treatment was done clandestinely. They also claimed that it was a plot to eliminate the family. The sole victim Sayeeda Begam’s statement was deliberately neither recorded nor was any identification parade conducted till she breathed her last. She was the one who could have easily identified the perpetrators. 

  
On February 27 1996, a petition was filed before the court but justice is still awaited.

Police Report:

In its final report, police has admitted that they have ‘recorded’ the statement of Sayeeda Begam, the principal witness and other witnesses under section 161, Cr.P.C. But they couldn’t conduct the identification parade because Sayeeda died after seven months of the incident. She would have revealed the identity of the perpetrators. 

Police, finally, in their concluding report said they have not able to identify the killers and more than 2 ½ years have passed neither there is any possibility to hold any investigation in future. There is no need of conducting any further investigation and the case was closed down.  

On 26 of July 1996, precisely 6 months after the incident three non-local persons approached Abdul Qayoom in civvies and asked him to hush up the matter. 

One of the person’s gently but firmly told Qayoom to stop pursuing the matter ’as what has happened, has happened. Now you should care about yourself and your family’s safety’. It was a veiled threat and intimidation. They met Qayoom at Doda where the family migrated after the massacre.. It was due to the agitation launched by then local MLA Sheikh Abdur  Rehman about the Bhaderwah massacre that the three non-local persons had approached Qayoom. 

 
However, two of the family members were benefited with relief and jobs under SRO 43. 

BILAL AHMED, A KASHMIRI BEHIND BARS IN BANGALORE

On December 28, 2006, Bilal Ahmed Kota, a Kashmiri businessman was arrested by some persons in civvies from his rented house at Ranipur, Hospet, Bangalore. Bilal, 32, son of Shamsudin Kota, resident of Saderabal, Hazratbal Srinagar was running a shop ‘Rising Sun Handicrafts’ at Rathabeedi Hampi, Bangalore. 

Later after his arrest, on January 5, 2007, Bilal was labeled as Imran Jalal, a Lashkar-e-Toiba (LeT) militant and Bangalore police claimed that Imran (Bilal) was arrested from a bus at Goruguntepalya Bellary and some recovery of ammunition was also shown from his possession. A case under Arms Act, Unlawful activities (prevention) Act was filed against him.

Shamsudin Kota, father of Bilal while talking to The Informative Missive said, “On December 28, 2006 at around 8:30pm Bilal conveyed on phone that he has reserved a train ticket and is coming back to Srinagar tomorrow on the eve of the Eid-ul-Azha. We were waiting for his return but he didn’t come. When I did not receive any information about Bilal’s arrival, I called T. K. Sundar Raj, the landlord of the house where he was residing in Bangalore. I asked him about Bilal, he replied that he was picked up by some unidentified persons in the night of December 28”.

Quoting Sundar Raj, the owner of the house where Bilal was putting up, Shamsudin said, “During the night of December 28 at around 10:30, 10 people boarding in two Sumo vehicles came to the house and barged into the room of Bilal and ordered him to accompany them, which he resisted. He had an argument with the said personnel, which was heard by the residents. As soon as I moved out, I found some persons dressed in civvies forcing Bilal to accompany them, when I asked why they want to take him? They replied that they had some work with him and then took him along. They also told Bilal to carry some clothes and said that he would be freed soon. Bilal locked the room and handed over the keys to me. Next day the personnel again raided my house and ordered me to provide the keys. They were carrying a bag that they kept in Bilal’s room. While searching the room they ransacked the household and took some business documents. After searching, they locked the room and fled away but this time they kept the keys with themselves. Then on December 31, same personnel again raided the house and took the bag and confiscated some documents and Kashmiri audio tapes from Bilal’s room. Since it was too late I could not inform police. Next day, I visited police station and informed them. They reprimanded me, asking why I didn’t inform them immediately. But police seemed to be cool after hearing about Bilal’s arrest. We suspected that it was the police who picked up Bilal on December 28”. 

Shamsudin further said, “On January 1, I moved to Bangalore to ascertain the whereabouts of my son. I reached Bangalore on January 4 and next day in the morning the news about Bilal’s arrest was aired on the local as well as in the national media that a top LeT militant Imran Jalal alias Bilal was arrested in the city outskirts when he was traveling in a bus from Hospet and the recovery of an AK-47 machine gun, 300 rounds, five hand grenades, cell phone, a satellite phone and some SIM cards were also shown which is totally wrong. Through the media the police portrayed my son as the chief of LeT. Meanwhile, my son was presented in the court of law. I rushed to the court where I saw my son; face covered with mask and with several police personnel dragging him. The court remanded my son for around two weeks. Bilal’s arrest was portrayed in such a way, which caused uproar in the whole Bangalore city. Advised by the panicked Kashmiri traders and other person’s, I came back to Srinagar. After week long stay in Srinagar, I sensed that my son is being implicated in the bogus militancy case. Then I again moved to Bangalore and approached media and got the matter highlighted. I consulted many traders and other esteemed persons of Hampi and Hospet area and with the help of some human rights groups gave press conferences in order to prove my son’s innocence. I also engaged a lawyer namely B.T. Venkatesh who is now pleading my son’s case but unfortunately so far I haven’t succeeded in getting my son released”. 

“In 1990, after appearing in the annual examination of 10th class, Bilal went to Azad Kashmir for arms training with JKLF (Jammu and Kashmir Liberation Front) and came back after six months. On his return after acquiring the arms training, the operation Balakote militant outfit took him to become operative. I did not want my son to work as a militant and I begged the chief of the outfit to set my son free, which he denied. Then I sold my Taxi for rupees 35000 and paid that amount to the militants after which my son was unshackled from militancy. Then I sent my son to Bangalore for studying in the year 1991. He continued his study there and completed his Diploma in Computer Sciences from the city based Acharaya Polytechnic. When he could not get the job there he came back to Srinagar in the year 1994. As soon as he landed in Srinagar he was arrested by the BSF during a routine crackdown and remained in custody for 40 days. When nothing unlawful was found against him and was set free. After his release Bilal again went back to Bangalore and started working in a private company for few years. Bilal then returned to valley in 1998 and started to work as a sales executive with a local Cigarette Distribution company of ITC”, said Shamsudin. 

Shamsudin remembers that his son was many times during his stay in Kashmir approached by some militant groups to rejoin the militancy but he refused and didn’t feel comfortable to stay and work in Kashmir.

Shamsudin further adds, “One of my nephew, Fayaz Ahmad was running a Handicraft Shop in Hampi and he got married to an American girl and was planning to get settled in USA. He was about to sell his shop and I approached him and bought his shop. Bilal quit his work in the cigarette company and in the year 2002, he left for Bangalore to start his business. During his 5 years work in Bangalore, Bilal was never charged of any unlawful activity and was never involved in any criminal case. His work and conduct at the work place as well as in the residential area was very appreciable”.

Aslam Mulla, a disabled young man from Gadag, Bangalore said, “I have been working for Bilal for a few years now. He was a nice boss and a good employer. He took me every day from my residence village Kondanayakanahalli on his two-wheeler to the shop. He had entrusted me all the responsibilities of the shop. Since I was working with Bilal, I never found anything suspicious about him”.

Jawahira 55, mother of Bilal said, “My son was innocent. He was living a life of commoner since the time he got free from the clutches of militancy in the year 1990. There was nothing incriminating against him. In the year 2004, he came back to Srinagar and got married to Saliha. After marriage they left to Bangalore and were residing there. In the year 2006 my daughter in law came back to Srinagar and delivered a girl child who is now 9 months old. My daughter in law was waiting for the return of her husband so that he could see his newly born baby but cruelty of the fate entangled him in a forged militancy case”.


“Due to Bilal’s kind approach, he was once elected as the president of Kashmiri Handicrafts Association and was also the leader of all Kashmiri traders in Hampi. But the brutal police of Bangalore did not leave him. Besides severe torture, he was subjected to the narco-analysis test thrice and was also examined through brain mapping and polygraphy. But still nothing incriminating divulged out against him. He is being intertwined in the case intentionally. We are very much worried about our brother”, said Ruksana, younger sister of Bilal.       

POLICE VERSION

Though Bilal was arrested on December 28, 2006, the Bangalore city police deny this. Their version is that he was arrested on his way to the city from Hospet in a private bus on January 5 at around 6 pm.

“He was arrested from a private bus from Jalahalli near Goruguntepalya, district Bellary, where police team had laid in wait for Imran’s arrival. The arrest was made after we were tipped off by intelligence sources. When we arrested him, we also seized an AK assault rifle, 300 rounds of ammunition, four AK 47 magazines, fine hand grenades, mobile phones, additional SIM cards, a satellite phone and a map in which the Infosys Campus and Airport Bangalore were marked off”, stated DGP Srinivasan and Joint Commissioner Gopal B Hosur. 

The Chief Minister H.D. Kumarawamy told that police have foiled a conspiracy of attack on the Airport, Bangalore’s IT giant Infosys Technologies and Wipro Headquarters by arresting Imran (Bilal).

On January 6 2007, the Times City, Times of India publication from Bangalore quoting Police Commissioner N. Achuta Rao stated that Imran is neither linked to Indian Institute of Science attack, nor to the two terrorists arrested in Mysore recently.


 


TALE OF A DISAPPEARED YOUTH

Mohammad Saleem Zargar, 22, by profession a contractor with army disappeared on September 14, 1995. The family alleges that the same army personnel with whom Saleem was having his business dealings abducted him.


Shahida Begam, sister of the disappeared while talking to The Informative Missive said,” My brother worked as a contractor with the army of 10 Rashtriya Rifles (RR). He was a cement supplier. On September 14, 1995, two army men from 10 RR visited our house and had a tea and fruits which we served to them. On the same evening at around 6:30 pm, the family servant Deepo went to the spring to fetch water. The spring is located near the RR camp. Spotting Deepo there, the army personnel on duty enquired from Deepo, ‘who is at Saleem’s home’? The army personnel 5 in number from the same camp wearing masks entered our house at around 8:30 am. The troops asked Saleem to guide them to a village called Bagwa, 15 kilometers from Doda. My father Qayom Zargar insisted that he would help them in guiding despite being ill. He also feared for Saleem’s security. The adamant troops paid no heed to the old man’s plea and dragged Saleem along. He was dragged amidst inmates including two daughters, then unmarried who watched helplessly. However, Saleem’s brother was fortunately in Jammu otherwise he could have been also picked up.. My younger sister Masrat somehow showed great courage and dared to remove the mask of one of the troopers, through which we identified him as a trooper of the same army camp who had earlier visited our home. Saleem was forcibly taken and since then his whereabouts are not known”. 

Shahida further said, “Meanwhile, my parents on same day approached the 10 RR army camp for seeking help from its Commanding Officer (CO). Instead, they threatened them and asked to bring Saleem’s cousin Muzaffar alias Javaid Qureshi, a Hizbul Mujahideen militant to them and they will return Saleem in exchange. We expressed our inability to do so, as we have no information about his location. Due to the inability to bear the shock, my father expired in 2006”.


The family has lodged a disappearance report of Saleem in police station Doda but so far no investigation has been conducted and police is reluctant to stand against the army. 
TROOPS TORTURE YOUTH, BEAT VILLAGERS

On January 16, 2007, a youth namely Abdul Ahad son of Khazir Mohammad Mir  was subjected to torture by the Indian troops in Wadder village in Handwara, district Kupwara approximately 75 kilometers from Srinagar. The news of the torture of the youth came into light when highlighted the villagers were beaten and also fired upon by the troops in which 14 villagers received injuries, four of them critical. The critically injured were moved to Shree Maharaja Hari Singh Hospital (SMHS) and Bones and Joints Hospital, Srinagar. Police has registered an FIR against army. 

Mohammad Sultan Mir son of Khazir Mohammad Mir, a forest department employee told to The Informative Missive, “On January 15 at 9:30 am, 21 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) posted at Delta Camp, Wadder - Payeen cordoned off our home while I was giving tuitions to some children. The army contingent comprising 10-15 personnel entered my home and asked me that they have to search the house. I took all the children out of the house. After thoroughly searching the entire house, the troops asked about my brother Abdul Ahad who was not present at home. They instructed me to send him to the camp. As soon as the troops left, I contacted Ahad and informed him that the troops want him in the camp. Ahad went to the army camp and presented himself before the army Major. Till 3:00 pm when he was not released I along with the Numberdar (village head) and Sarpanch (Panchayat head) of the village went to the camp to get him released. On reaching the camp, I heard the screams of my brother who was being tortured. Meanwhile, my father Khazir Mohammad also arrived and started pleading about Ahad’s innocence and even told them if at all he is involved in the militancy, then don’t spare him. The army men posted at the camp told him it is up to the Major. Nearly 40 persons assembled at the camp. In front of the sizeable gathering of people, troops categorically denied his release and beat the Sarpanch. Late in the evening at 8:30 pm, disappointed, we returned back empty handed. Meanwhile, one Gujjar (nomad) came and said that Ahad has been thrown in a field. We rushed to the spot where Ahad was lying near a nallah (stream) called Nagni in moribund condition. He was severely tortured as the injuries inflicted on his body proved it. The extent of torture was so severe that he was unable to speak. He was given electric shocks and dipped in water in freezing water. We took him to the home. Since our village is a remote area lacking all medical facilities. We offered him local salt-tea without milk (toot), which worked as a medicine and helped him regaining his senses. Next morning almost 200 persons mostly relatives took him on a bed to the hospital as there is no road and transport facility available in the village. On way to the hospital is the army camp where the villagers had protested against the torture. In unison, we asked the troops posted at the camp that we want to meet the Major. They replied that Major was out of the camp. We insisted to talk to Commanding Officer about the torture instead they started beating the people with sticks in which 14 persons were injured. The troops also resorted to firing in which one Ghulam Rasool Sheikh got critically injured. It was due to the intervention of the local police that the troops allowed us to move to the hospital. Irked by the resistance, some of the villagers were arrested later”.   

The villagers alleged that Major Jaishanker of Wadder RR camp has passed the following orders:

· If a villager brings home 50 kilograms of rice, he has to inform the Major first. 

· No villager can keep more than five kilograms of rice in his home.

· Use of LPG for cooking or lighting is prohibited.

· After 8 pm, lights must be put off in homes.

· Guests must first attend the camp when they visit relatives.

District Magistrate Abdul Majid Khanday admitted that the protesters have been beaten badly. “I have asked Assistant Commissioner to submit a detailed report. Army has no right to put tabs on the amount of ration they store in their homes”, Khanday told. 

Haseeb Mughal, Superintendent of Police, Handwara admitted, “People have been beaten. I have seen them personally.”
CUSTODIAL KILLING
REPORT NAILS ARMY OFFICER, PROCESS FOR TRIAL YET TO BEGIN
January 18: Even though the Deputy Inspector General (DIG) of Police, North Kashmir Range has concluded in his status report that an army major has killed a resident of Tangmarg, Gulmarg approximately 40 kilometers from Srinagar in cold blood, steps are yet to be taken to bring the accused army officer to the state and conduct his trial in the court of law. 

In the status report submitted by DIG North Kashmir, M. S Lone before the High Court, it has been said that since no cognizance can be taken against the officer involved in the "murder" under the reference by the court without obtaining sanction from Union of India, the case file along with the co-related records will be processed to government for accord of sanction in order to launch prosecution against the officer. Lone in the status report says that after obtaining the same, challan will be produced in the court of law. 

The police officer was entrusted with the job of finding the truth in the case and he has sought for the kind perusal of the same by the Court. 

The status report while describing the sequence of events says that on January 9, 2001 a written complaint was lodged by Haneefa Begum, wife of Late Ghulam Mohammad Khan resident of Khaipora, Tangmarg at Police Station Tangmarg against the officers / officials of the army posted at Sagree-Batapora. 

In her complaint, Haneefa alleged that the army personnel then camped at Sagree Batapora lifted her son namely Abdul Majeed Khan, a chemist by profession from her residence for questioning purposes on January 8, 2001 and on the next day his dead body was found in a nallah (stream). The complainant alleged that the body of the deceased bore several torture marks and that he was killed during interrogation. 

The status report adds that on receipt of this complaint, a criminal case bearing FIR No. 03/01 under sections 364, 302 RPC was registered against the army personnel at police station Tangmarg and investigations were started. The investigations of the case were initially carried out by Rafiq Ahmad Qadri, the then SHO Tangmarg. 

The DIG said that after changing many hands, the investigation of the case was finalized by him and during this process, the investigating officer recorded the statements of the complainant as well as other witnesses. He adds in the status report that the complainant as well as witnesses have been unanimous in stating that the death of Abdul Majeed was caused by the army personnel of Sagree-Batapora during interrogation. 

The status report while quoting the other witnesses said that these people have unanimously stated that the deceased was picked up the army personnel of above mentioned unit and seeing this, the people rushed to the army camp so that no harm is caused to the arrested person. The army personnel assured the locals that Abdul Majeed would be released, but instead of this, next day his body was found in a nallah. 

The status report while quoting the witnesses to the case said that the deceased had been lifted by a battery of 59 Field Regiment stationed at Sagree-Batapora. Some inhabitants of Khaipora-Tangmarg have recorded their statements with Sub Judge Pattan under section 164 Criminal Procedure Code Cr.PC and in these statements the people were clear that the said person was arrested in broad daylight from his residence and death was caused during the interrogation. 

The status report while quoting the autopsy report says that the death of the deceased was caused due to excessive internal bleeding in abdomen and splenic rupture. The autopsy was carried out by Dr. Muzaffar Shora who was posted then at Sub District Hospital (SDH) Tangmarg. It goes on to say that in light of the statements recorded during the course of investigation, it manifests that the death of the deceased was caused by the army personnel who were camping at Sagree-Batapora, Tangmarg on January 8, 2001. 

The status report while divulging further details said that on the day of occurrence, the 59 Field Regiment had also lifted two persons namely Mohammad Maqbool Rather resident of Kharnipora-Tangmarg and Ashaq Hussain Mir resident of Nothnipora-Tangmarg along with the deceased for questioning purposes. All the three were interrogated by one Major Bhattacharya in barrack and while quoting the other two arrested persons the status report had written that during interrogation serious injuries were inflicted on the body of the deceased, which ultimately led to his death. 

 
The statements of Mohammad Maqbool and Ashaq Hussain got corroborated with the medical opinion of the doctor who carried out the post mortem of Abdul Majeed's body. In this way it was established that the accused namely K. Bhattacharya had caused the death of deceased during interrogation, the status report said. 

The DIG maintains that strenuous efforts were taken by the investigating agency so that the nominal roll of the party who were deputed for lifting the deceased could be ascertained, but due to the non-cooperation 59 Field Regiment Batapora C/o 56 APO and the concerned army major, the said roll could not be obtained. He added that as the concerned unit had already moved out of the state and as such it was not possible to conduct the identification parade and in this way the other members of the raiding party could not be identified. 

The investigating officer while presenting the status report has sought for the directions from the High Court so that a sanction is obtained from Union of India so that cognizance can be taken against the army major in the case. He has said this would facilitate in launching prosecution against the said officer and following this a challan can be produced in the court of law.
TEARS, PRAYERS MARK GAW KADAL MASSACRE ANNIVERSARY 

Today on January 21, 2007 a large gathering of people assembled at the GawKadal chowk to commemorate the martyrs of the GawKadal Massare which took place on January 21, 1991.

On January 21, 1991, thousands of people took out a huge protest march against molestation of women by the troops in Chotta Bazaar locality by paramilitary CRPF troops. The then government headed by Governor Jagmohan allowed the march to proceed for nearly two kilometers, but when it reached Gaw Kadal, the peaceful protesters without any provocation were fired at indiscriminately by paramilitary troopers and police led by Deputy Superintendent Police Allah Baksh. Fifty-two people including women died and nearly 250 were wounded. 


Aizi Begam, 72, of Maisuma whose son Shabir Ahmad was among 52 persons who were massacred by CRPF troopers on January, 21,1990 at Gaw Kadal remembered him with tears, as people offered prayers, and shouted pro-freedom slogans at the spot to mark the massacre’s 17th anniversary. 

 
“I am proud of my son. Before achieving martyrdom he saved lives of many people in the procession,” said Aizi, holding Shabir’s photograph, sobbing as her son Zahoor Ahmad consoled her. 

 
“Troops fired many bullets at Shabir who came in way of a trooper firing indiscriminately at hundreds of unarmed peaceful protesters,” Zahoor said. 

 
Aizi Begum’s only regret is that she couldn’t see Shabir’s face before he was buried.   

“Government had imposed a curfew after the incident. I wanted to kiss his head; she made a proud mother,” she said. 

Scores of people, including the relatives of the victims offered prayers at the spot. A memorial in the form of a big canvas with image of a soldier pumping bullets with a machine gun in the chest of a civilian was hung from a wall near the massacre site. A graphic narration of the massacre has been drawn on the canvas.

Muhammad Yaqoob who lost his father Haji Ali Muhammad in the massacre said, “The people who were massacred were demonstrating against the molestation of women at Chotta Bazar a day before. They had marched on many streets peacefully and were demanding action against the troops accused of the molestation of the women, but when they reached Gaw Kadal, they were killed like flies.”

Yaqoob said his father had locked them up in their house and he joined the protesters. “He told us ‘you stay at home, I will go with the protesters’. At home we heard continuous rattle of fire and several hours later I went to the spot and saw the bodies lying on the bloodied road,” he said. 

Zulehuma Mukhtar, sister of Abdur Rauf who took 52 bullets on his chest said, “It is high time we take the cause for which Rauf and 51 others laid their lives to its conclusion. But for that we must all be sincere.” 

KUPWARA REMEMBERS JANUARY 27 CARNAGE

Army had massacred 22 civilians for observing strike on January 26

KUPWARA, January 27: Army soldiers on this day in the year 1994 massacred twenty-two innocent unarmed civilians in the main market of Kupwara because the shopkeepers and transporters had observed strike a day before, on the Indian Republic Day (January 27). None of the accused army personnel were punished in the past twelve years. Police had registered a case but it is yet to produce a charge sheet in the court though one of the massacred men in his dying statement to police had said the army’s firing was unprovoked. 

CARNAGE

On 25 January, 1994 the troops of Light Infantry Regiment who were patrolling the roads had prohibited the shopkeepers in the town from observing the strike on January 26, on which the entire valley has been observing the curfew-like shutdown for the past 17 years every year. The soldiers were going from shop to shop, warning each shopkeeper of dire consequences if they closed their shops. Police had dissuaded the soldiers from the no-strike campaign, and there was even a scuffle between the police and the soldiers. The shopkeepers were defiant, and observed a complete strike on India’s Republic Day. 
 
However, the soldiers were enraged by the defiance. The next day that is, January 27, 1994, the troops fired indiscriminately at the shopkeepers and the pedestrians killing 22, according to the witnesses. Some people still remind how “some people were dragged out of vehicles and bullets pumped into their bodies”.

EYEWITNESSES

Eyewitnesses, most of them shopkeepers, said the first burst of fire came from the troops standing on Regipora Bridge killing three persons on the spot. 

Abdul Qadir, a shopkeeper near the bridge, says: “I heard a whistle when the Army convoy passed the bridge and then they started fire. I hid myself under the stairs of my shop. Three persons were killed before my eyes.” 

Another shopkeeper wishing anonymity, said, “The troops in the bunker at top of my shop started firing towards the bus stand. I ventured and pleaded them to stop. I was surprised they did not recognise me; they were hysterical and someone among them shouted “kill him” but fortunately I took shelter in my shop downed the shutter.”

“I along with my two colleagues, Ghulam Muhammad and Wali Muhammad, were traveling in our official vehicle. The soldiers bought us down and fired at us. They thought all of us were dead. I crawled under the vehicle and pretended dead till police arrived,” said an official presently working in the Deputy Commissioner’s office Kupwara. 

A drug store owner, requesting that his name should not be quoted, said, “Ghulam Nabi of Gulgam, the forest guard, had just stepped out of my shop after purchasing medicines when a soldier standing outside the shop shot him dead. Half of his body was inside the shop and half outside; I shuddered and though I would be next.” 

IMPUNITY

Police registered an FIR against the Regiment in Police station Kupwara on charges of murder and attempt to murder, but it is yet to produce challan in the court. They cite reasons. 

A senior police officer, wishing his name should not be named, said that the case was gathering dust and was only reopened in 2005. “One of the critically wounded persons in his dying statement on the hospital bed had said that army had fired at civilians without any provocation. That is evidence enough for convicting the guilty. This strong evidence has also been its undoing because whenever the case was opened, it was closed soon after under pressure.”

According to the police officer, the police have requested army to send then the Commanding Officer of the Regiment, charged with the massacre, to the police station so that his statement could be recorded. “We have written nine times to the army in the past but they haven’t responded a single time,” he said. A top police officer’s suggestion to hand over the investigation of the case to CBI was turned down by the authorities.

REMEMBRANCE

People of Kupwara town organized a prayer meeting today on January 27, 2007 in which the relatives of the massacred civilians also participated. The families decided to observe the day every year and urged people not to forget the sacrifices of the Kupwara Martyrs. 
NOT A TERRORIST; DELHI COURT RELEASES KASHMIRI MODEL 
January 24: A Kashmiri model arrested by Delhi police in November last year on the charges of being a Lashker-e-Toiba (LeT) militant was released by Tes-Hazari Court in New Delhi.

The police have failed to produce a charge sheet against him although he’s been in custody for over 90 days and was released today on January 24 from Tihar Jail at 2000 hrs IST.

Delhi police withdrew all the charges against Tariq Ahmed Dar, the former Mr. Dhaka, paving way for his release. 
Dar was first arrested by Bangladesh police on September 15, 2006 on the charges of being an agent of the Research and Analysis Wing (RAW). However, Saifudin Soz, the Union Minister of Water Resources intervened and got him released from the custody.

Dar had become a famous model in Bangladesh and had been awarded the crown of Mr. Dhaka. He was arrested by the sleuths of Special Cell of Delhi Police in November from Delhi Airport and was lodged in Tihar Jail. Tariq started his career in Bangladesh some years ago when he came to Dhaka to participate in the International Trade Fair, as his family is involved in selling Kashmiri Handicrafts. Tariq saw business opportunities in Dhaka and decided to stay to develop the selling of his carpets and famous Pashmina shawls.

Business flourished and one day an advertisement agency spotted him and asked him to figure in an advertisement for Nescafe. His modeling career started and soon he was elected “Mr. Bangladesh” in the model contest namely “You Got The Looks”. He became the brand ambassador for the renowned fashion house Ecstasy and he started his own website www.tariq-model.com
After Tariq was picked up, the government and the police authorities kept silent. They did not inform the Indian High Commission, despite their continuous efforts to offer consular assistance to Tariq. Also the appointed lawyers did not get access to Tariq. Amnesty International issued an “Urgent Appeal” to the government of Bangladesh, fearing torture and ill-treatment. “Tariq’s detention was completely illegal and against all laws”says his lawyer from Delhi. “Tariq was produced secretly in court, was not entitled to see a lawyer, did not get proper treatment, and was implicated in four different baseless cases. Above all, he has been kept in remand for interrogation for 40 days. Needless to explain in details what that means in Bangladesh. It is a miracle that he survived”.

The Dhaka court released Tariq from all charges on 23 October, although the RAB took him in their custody again. Tariq was deported on 25 October to India and handed over to Delhi police. The special cell investigated the case and found that Bangladesh’s allegations were baseless. “Thorough investigation was conducted in the case but nothing incriminating was found against Dar”, a senior police officer said. The higher court in Delhi ruled today (January 24) that Tariq is innocent and should be set free immediately.

“Finally my client gets justice after four months in detention. The life of a bright young man has been ruined. It is a disgrace to the government, the police authorities and the law system” adds his lawyer.

News reports from Delhi said that Chief Metropolitan Magistrate Seema Maini discharged Dar, who languished in judicial custody for three months, as the police was not able to prove any allegation against him. During his imprisonment, Dar’s father Gazi Ghulam Nabi Dar ran a campaign for the release of his son.

Same day January 27 ,after four months of torturous detention amid allegations of being a “LeT terrorist” and the “RAW agent”, Tariq landed in his homeland for a happy family reunion with his mother Aamina waiting for the eldest son’s return.

Hustle-bustle and the aroma of Kehwa at former Mr. Bangladesh’s maternal home in Narwara locality of old-city, were enough to reveal the merry moments, as the family was busy showcasing his modeling photographs before the guests. 

Sitting aside his mother, the 28-year-old Tariq said, “During 40 days of detention in Bangladesh, I was mostly kept blind folded. And at Tihar jail for three months I was in a cage”.

 Enjoying the status of being selected Mr. Bangladesh and “Look of the year” in 2003, modeling assignments and the family business of handicrafts in Bangladesh. Life was full of glamour for Tariq till September 15, 2006 when Bangladeshi cops knocked at his Dhaka residence.

BANGLADESH TROUBLE

 
Both Tariq and his Bangladeshi servant, Tahir Muhammad were blindfolded and whisked away by the cops for questioning from their flat.

While the servant was released after few days, Tariq was detained on charges of being an Indian intelligence agency - Research and Analysis Wing (RAW) agent.

“They (police) said I was selected as Mr. Bangladesh from the show sponsored by an Indian company adding that being RAW agent, India had promoted me through the event. But when I pleaded my innocence, they threatened to kill me,” Tariq recollects.

“Twice they even asked me to tell my last wish. But as I requested them to let me speak to my mother they turned down it,” he adds.

During 40 days of detention in a small dark cell, Tariq had no links with the outside world. 

The only news he would get was from Langer man (one who cooks food for prisoners), a fan of his. “He and some other officials had seen my hoarding and so were surprised to find me detained…As a goodwill gesture they informed me that my father had come to Bangladesh and had taken up the matter with the authorities.”

Finally on the intervention of Union Minister Saif-ud-Din Soz, Tariq was finally released on October 25.

After getting released Indian High Commission Authorities approached Tariq and inquired about his detention. “I clarified that I was being falsely fabricated for being a RAW agent.” Later the same day he boarded a plane for New Delhi.

DELHI DRAMA

Moments after landing at the Delhi Airport, Delhi Police’s Special Cell personnel in civvies stopped him for questioning. Tariq’s younger brother Imtiaz who puts up at the family’s New Delhi residence was waiting at the arrival lounge. An unknown caller had informed Imtiaz that the model and been released and was coming to India.

However, before the brothers could meet, Tariq was whisked away for interrogation. 

“It (torture) was worse than that in Bangladesh, I can’t reveal it. Those painful days still make me shiver”.

This time there was a twist in the branding against the model. In stark contrast to Bangladeshi allegation of being Indian agent, Delhi police branded him as a “LeT terrorist”. “I tried to convince them that I was neither RAW agent nor LeT man but somehow they turned down my cries.”  After 12 days of torture, he was sent to Tihar Jail.

“I was kept in a high risk ward. It was a cage which I had only seen at zoos,” he says. The tortured man was given sympathy by a Kashmiri inmate languishing in the jail for the past 11 years. Looking at the time spent by other Kashmiris in the jail, Tahir had given up the hope of his release. “Every Kashmiri had been languishing for not less than 3-4 years. Some have spent over a decade,” he observes.

Finally, Tariq got a respite when Tes-Hazari Court in New Delhi ordered his release on Wednesday last (January 24). While ordering Tariq’s release, the Court observed “Since there is no evidence against the accused in the instant case, as admitted by the prosecution itself, the accused is released in the instant case henceforth.”

Coming down on the police the Court observed: “However, I cannot restrain myself from observing that it is a sorry of state of affairs that a citizen of India since, I can no longer refer to him as an accused has been kept in custody for a period of 90 long days, which for an innocent person can actually be an ‘entire lifetime’ ”. Magistrate Seema Maini added that “The meaning and the concept of ‘liberty’ which has been enshrined as basic postulate of our Constitution really needs to be understood by the police so that the “deprivation of a person’s liberty does not continue under the garb of ‘pending investigation’ “.

BOTTOM-LINE

After relaxing with his family for sometime, Tariq wishes to restart his modeling profession. However, his wish may remain a wish.

Due to interrogation by the Delhi police, his left foot has gone paralyzed. 

“During examination at Tihar jail, the doctor had confirmed it.”

However, the doctor was uncertain how much time it would take to recover. “It may take months or years, he had said,” the model recollects. “I intend to consult a doctor once the reunion celebrations are over,” he adds.

Of now, the Kashmiri man who ruled the ramps for year’s limps for no fault of his. 

KASHMIRI SCHOLAR BEATEN IN TRAIN BY ARMY MEN

January 9: The state government will write to the Ministry of Defence to issue directions to defence personnel against resorting to harassment or torture of any student or businessmen belonging to Jammu & Kashmir (J&K), on any account, without verifying their credentials or taking concerned state agencies into confidence.

 
This was stated today by the Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad outside the state legislature, while responding to media queries pertaining to the beating up of a Kashmiri youth from Baramulla by army personnel in Dakshin Express on Monday January 8. 

Azad maintained that while taking cognizance of the incident, he had directed Financial Commissioner Home B R Kundal to write to Ministry of Defence seeking directions for defence personnel not to take law into their hands. Chief Minister stated that he came to know about the incident after watching news reports yesterday night on a private TV channel in this connection and he found it very unfortunate. 

"Even earlier, when we had received the reports about harassment and torture of students and businessmen of J&K in other states of the country including union capital, in spite of the fact that they were not involved in militancy related incidents, I wrote to the Chief Ministers of all states. I maintained that in case of any doubt, instead of harassing, or torturing our students or businessmen, they could detain them and immediately inform our DGP and intelligence agencies. Once the matter is brought to our notice and our police, our agencies confirm that their record is not up to the mark, only then an action should be initiated," Azad averred. 

Earlier, the issue also figured in the state assembly when National Conference MLA Mian Altaf raised it during Zero Hour referring to news reports of private TV channel. "The youth, who is doing PhD in Dehradun was severely beaten up after being stripped. His body wears bruises and torture marks," Altaf alleged. He maintained that such incidents are increasing alienation among masses and should be looked into at priority. 

 
As per reports, Shafkat Ahmed of Baramulla, who is a research scholar in Wild Life Institute, Dehradun, had filed an FIR with Railway police at Nizamuddin Railway Station on Monday January 8 wherein he had alleged that he was assaulted when he boarded the Dakshin Express and entered a coach reserved for army personnel. Without verifying his credentials, despite his repeated requests to give him a chance to prove his identity, they harassed and then assaulted him. Meanwhile the Union Minister for Railways Lalu Prasad Yadav has ordered probe into the incident. 
 
"I have asked the chat KASHMIRI ARRESTED IN DELHI
SRINAGAR, January 12: After ruthless beating of a Kashmiri research scholar by army men in a train in Jhansi few days ago, reports of arrest and torture of yet another scholar from Baramulla district has shocked his family. 

Family of Parvez Ahmad Radoo, 27, son of Sanaullah Radoo of Noor Bagh Sopore who did his post graduation in Zoology from Pune University, said he left the Valley on October 12, 2006 to purse advanced studies in the varsity. 

“Parvez called home on October 16 saying he had reached Pune and was fine. However, we were shocked when he was shown on a TV news channel on October 20 as a suspected militant in police custody,” Parvez’s uncle Ali Muhammad told.

Ali Mohammad told, “On the same day, Parvez called home from mobile No. 9960565152 and inquired about his family. He said he had been enrolled for Ph D. I told him ‘why are you lying, you were just shown on TV in police custody.’ Before he could utter a word somebody snatched his phone, and said, ‘I am inspector Mohan Chand Sharma. Don’t worry your nephew is safe. Come to Delhi’ ”.

 Finally, on October 26 the family left for Delhi and contacted inspector Sharma. He told us to come to Special Cell of Delhi Police at Lodhi Road. On seeing us, Parvez could not even move. He told us that the cops had brutally tortured him in custody. 

“When I reached Delhi Airport, two men in civvies asked my credentials. As I told them I hail from Sopore, they asked me to accompany them. When I resisted, more men joined them and bundled me in a car,” Ali Muhammad quoted Parvez as having told them. 

“In custody they asked me to say what they wanted to. After I refused they threatened to kill me ‘then and there only’ and asked me to call home to say I am fine,” he told his uncle. 

“Seeing us in tears, Mohan Chand and Dharmendra consoled us saying, ‘we are helpless. Some of our senior officers told us to arrest a Kashmiri and label him as a militant so that they could get promotion. After charge sheet is filed against him, then you can apply for his bail’,” Ali Muhammad added. 

 
“He is just a student who wanted to purse advanced education. If it is proved that he is a militant, Delhi police can shoot him. We don’t know any politician who could help us in his release,” Parvez’s another uncle, Altaf Hussain, said. 
4 KASHMIRI BUSINESSMEN HELD IN KARNATAKA

POLICE CLAIMED THEIR RELEASE

January 11: Police has arrested four Kashmiri businessmen in Belarry area of Karnataka state of south India sending shivers among the businessmen and their families, as they fear the arrested men might be labeled as “terrorists” or killed in fake encounters. 

The arrested businessmen are Muhammad Rafiq Toku, Showkat Ahmad Bhat, Showkat Ahmad Tunda and Nazir Ahmad. 

A caller Ghulam Muhammad Punjabi of Habba Kadal, running a shop in Hospet Hampi in Belarry, told over phone from Belarry that “Police raided our rented house on Wednesday (January 10) night and arrested my brother Nazir Ahmed.”

“Since January 1 police is raiding the areas where Kashmiris are living and four Kashmiris have been arrested so far,” Punjabi said. He said the policemen at the Hospet Police Station abused him when he went to inquire about the reasons of his brother’s arrest.

“A policeman told me ‘all of you (Kashmiris) are terrorists and you have no right to stay here’,” Punjabi said. 

Punjabi said he has been visiting Belarry for the past 13 years and he along with more than 50 Kashmiri businessmen have set up small shops selling handicrafts. “All the Kashmiris who come here for business purposes have to report to the police station every week, and before setting up businesses, register their names and other details in the police station,” he said. 

Punjabi while narrating the ordeal asked this reporter to give him the number of the Chief Minister (CM). “I want to talk to the CM and remind him about his assurances,” said Punjabi. “When Azad took over as Chief Minister I read his statement in the newspapers stating that he has written to the chief ministers of 13 states asking them not to harass Kashmiris.” 

In October last year, a Kashmiri Automobile Engineer, Irshad Ahmed Lone, who had gone to New Delhi was tortured to death in police custody, according to his family. 

“My Bhabhi (sister-in-law) is in a state of shock. She is finding it hard to believe that her husband has been arrested,” Punjabi said, “We are worried about his safety; in the past there have been many cases of Kashmiris being killed in other parts of India,” he added. 

“We don’t know who to approach for help,” he said, “Government should declare other parts of India as out of bounds for Kashmiris.” 

Police on January 19 said the issue of four Kashmiri businessmen arrested in Karnataka in south India was taken up with Karnataka Police on the instructions of Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad after a story about the arrest appeared in media on January 12.

 
According to a police spokesman, Commissioner of Police Bangalore informed the Kashmir police that four individuals Muhammad Rafiq Toku, Showkat Ahmed Bhat, Showkat Tunda and Nazir Ahmed were taken for questioning in connection with investigation of case FIR No. 6/2007/ P/S Yeshwanthpur and were “not arrested.” 

 
“They were let off immediately after questioning,” the police said. 

ARMY CLICKS PHOTOS OF NORTH KASHMIR RESIDENTS

HANDWARA, January 12: For the past several years, Army has been conducting a big exercise away from media glare to register names and details of each person of a family, and also have the group photographs of the families taken and recorded, in scores of north Kashmir villages. While people in many villages under duress allowed having the photographs of their women taken and kept in record of Army, many villages have and are still resisting as they feel it an invasion of their privacy and fear misuse of women’s photographs in the wake of sexual abuse of women by politicians, bureaucrats, and top police and forces personnel in Srinagar and Handwara areas. Army says it is a ‘security measure.’

 
In the past two weeks, Army personnel have been taking group photographs of families in Haran, Chanmohalla and Takiyabal, Kulangam, Braripora villages in Handwara area of Kupwara district. The villagers said army personnel have photographed all the men, including boys above the age of three, and are now insisting on the photographs of women too. 

“Two weeks ago soldiers came and assembled all the men near the mosque. Then they shot pictures of men and children. No policeman or a civilian official was accompanying the soldiers. Then on January 6, they came again and this time they said they are going to photograph the women, but the villagers said no. Since then they are coming at intervals and pressuring us to have the women photographed,” said a villager of Haran requesting anonymity, as he feared reprisals. He said the men who were not present the day the photographs of the villagers were taken, are also photographed every now and then. 

“They just say it is important, besides who can question them,” said another villager in Kulangam, “it is routine, and they come almost everyday.” 

The villagers in picturesque Haran, Chanmohall and Takiyabal villages situated at the foothills of Harmukh Mountain Range said Army’s 21 Rashtriya Rifles batallion also known as “Rajwar Tigers” is conducting the exercise in these villages. Army’s other battalions have completed the data collection in various parts of Handwara including remote and dangerous area of Zachaldara-Rajwar and its villages.

“If the whole village surrenders to army’s dictates, I won’t have the photos of my daughters shot by alien soldiers. If it so important why doesn’t the state government conduct this exercise?” said a government official. “Will it happen? It is unheard of, how can they take photos of women. Are they insensitive to our culture,” the old mother of the official said. 

A police officer of Chogul said, “They came today (January11) and they are insisting for photographs of women. Police did a census but they never sought photographs of men or women. For the past one month they come, sometimes when men are out to work and seek photographs of women.”

A student of Handwara Degree College from Kralgund village in Langate area of Handwara said Army has taken group photographs of families, including women, in their village in 2005. He offered an explanation of Army’s motive behind preparing the photographic profiles of the families. “During collective or individual searches, the Army personnel just open the records and cross check the information provided by the individuals or the families. Photographs make it easier for them,” he said. 

 
In Sanzipora village of Mawar area of Handwara, villagers said, the soldiers of 30 RR battalion have been asking for photographs of families for the past one-week. The local Army unit had sent a civilian photographer on Wednesday morning with the directions to shoot photos of the families. “We said a no to him, but he was helpless. He said ‘Army has sent me here, what should I tell them?’” said a villager. 

POLICE STATEMENT 

Police is against the exercise, said a middle-rung police officer of Handwara, requesting his name should not be mentioned. “People of Zachaldara, Haran, and Langate complained to us that Army was defiant. They sought police help and when we conveyed peoples’ displeasure to army officers, they ignored us,” he said.

Haseeb Mughal the Superintendent of Police Handwara said that police conducted a security census in October-November last year but “police felt no need to have photographs of either men or the women.” 

 
“I am not able to understand why Army needs photographs,” he said, adding he would discuss the issue with army top brass.

ARMY VERSION
While admitting that Army is photographing women in these areas, Defence spokesman Lt. Col. A K Mathur told, “It is a safety measure; Army is a responsible institution. The photographs won’t be misused.”

MY SON USED AS HUMAN SHIELD BY ARMY: FATHER

January 13: An employee with Power Development Corporation (PDC) lost his life when used as human shield by the troops during an encounter in which two militants of Lasker-e-Toiba (LeT) were killed at Sumlar Bandipore in north Kashmir.   

 
However, the troops claimed that the employee was killed in crossfire.


Father of the deceased civilian Muhammad Jabbar Lone while rejecting the army’s claim told, “When army started searches in the morning, they took my son along as a human shield. He was not killed in cross-firing.”

 
Later bodies of the slain militants and the PDC employee were handed over to locals.


The killings triggered off anger amongst the villagers who in hundreds amidst slogans attended the funeral prayers. 
KULHAND MASSACRE GHOST STILL HAUNTS

On January 23, residents of Kulhand area of Doda district Jammu called up the office of Public Commission on Human Rights (PCHR) where on May 1, 2006 unknown gunmen massacred 22 members of minority community. However, mystery still shrouds over the identity of the perpetrators who carried out the massacre. 

 
The villagers while expressing grave concern over the recruitment of 29 people (25 Hindu and 4 Muslims) from adjoining villages (not affected by massacre) in police was contrary to the statement made by the Chief Minister that the recruitment will be made from the victim village. The villagers further said, there were irregularities in their recruitment even most of them didn’t not meet the requirement for the job that indicates mala fide intentions behind the recruitment.

Earlier also the villagers expressed serious concern over the distribution of arms to the civilians by forming a 30-member Village Defence Committee (VDC) equipped with .303 rifles in Kulhand. 

The villagers also expressed the fears over the constitution of 85 VDC committees in entire Doda district, which comprise of 20 to 40 persons in each committee that too from a particular community shall undermine the communal harmony. People have apprehensions that the weapons allocated to the members of the Bhartiya Janta Party (BJP) activists would be misused, thereby, further dividing the two communities. Both Hindu-Muslim communities expressed their resentment against the constitution of VDC committees.

 
As far relief is concern, the next of kins of slain victims were compensated with Rs. 1 lac and a job under SRO 43 in different departments but not in police while the injured were given Rs. 10,000 by the state government. Most of the injured are still lying in the hospitals.  
BANDIPORA RESIDENT TURNS NOMAD INTO HIS OWN HOMELAND 

January 8: Mohammad Ramzan Bhat son of Abdul Gaffar Bhat of Tarapora, Bandipora, Baramulla allegedly moves from one place to another to escape the ire of the troops after his refusal to work with them as an informer. 


Bhat was arrested by the troops of 15 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) in June 2004. During his detention, he was reportedly subjected to torture and was coerced to hand over arms to them or work as an informer.  On Bhat’s refusal he was tortured more cruelly and was set free later in morbid condition.


In the same month soldiers in a private taxi in civvies raided his house and tried to abduct him. However, on villagers stiff resistance the attempt was foiled. Three soldiers got injured in the incident. Before leaving the spot they told Bhat that they will come again. 


In July 2004, Bhat to save his skin left his native village and moved to Srinagar. In Srinagar he finally got a job in a mosque where he was appointed as Mozzin (one who recites prayer call). Meanwhile, troops raided his residence number of times and harassed his family. His father died in December 2006, and his family comprising of wife and seven children feel insecure and expect more from the troops. 


In year 2006, he approached the police twice and sought their intervention. But on both times police handed him over to army. He was interrogated both the times and then released. In desperation he wants to move back to his home but the fear of the troops is keeping him away from his family.           
2 CIVILIANS KILLED IN EXPLOSION

SHOPIAN, January 6: Two civilians were killed and at least 20 persons including four soldiers of Territorial Army were wounded in a grenade explosion at Shopian town in South Kashmir on January 6 evening, police said. 

Two civilians, Muhammad Yosuf Lone son of Muhammad Abdullah Lone of Rai Kapran and Farooq Ahmed son of Abdul Gaffar of Damhal Hanji Pora died on the spot, while a soldier succumbed to his injuries in a local hospital.

Army spokesman Lt Col A.K Mathur told that four soldiers were injured in the attack and none of them died. 
Senior Superintendent of Police (SSP), Pulwama Nitish Kumar said that two civilians have been killed and a trooper of Territorial Army is critical. “At least twenty people were injured in the attack,” he added. 

A spokesman of 162 Territorial Army told media that the explosion occurred when the troopers patrolling the area spotted a youth moving in suspicious circumstances near Jamia Masjid Shopian. “As the troops tried to frisk the youth a grenade slipped fell from his pheran which caused a major explosion on spot,” he added.
IKHWANIS FORCE CIVILIANS TO HIDE IED IN VILLAGER’S HOUSE

January 21: On January 20 morning police arrested father-son duo from Palpora village of Handwara area on charges of dumping an IED in the house of a neighboring villager. 

 
Police sources, however, said the arrested duo were forced to plant the IED in the house of the villager by three government gunmen (Ikhwanis) working for army’s 33 Rashtriya Rifles battalion.

 
Abdul Rahman Shah and his son Altaf Ahmad Shah of Palpora Magam Handwara were arrested from their home and they confessed in police custody that they placed the IED in the house of Ali Muhammad Tantray on the night of January 9 at the bidding of the accused government gunmen, Fayaz War, Shabir Rather, and Mushtaq Ahmad, police sources said.

 
On January 10, the accused government gunmen along with troops of 33RR cordoned off Palpora village and claimed they recovered the IED from the cowshed of Ali Muhammad Tantray. After being tortured in army custody, Tantray was charged with illegal possession of arms and booked under the Arms Act, his family says. The villagers of Palpora demonstrated against the troops and their gunmen on January 10 outside the office of the District Magistrate Kupwara. The villagers told the District Magistrate that troops have falsely implicated Tantray

 
The DM ordered an inquiry into the matter and the directed the Superintendent of Police Handwara to investigate the matter.
 
Police sources said the accused government gunmen had told the arrested father-son duo to place IEDs in the houses of three more villagers. 

 
Superintendent of Police, Handwara Haseeb Mughal told, “We are investigating the case. I will not divulge the details as it will effect the investigation.” He said police is looking for the accused government gunmen. 

 
The government gunmen or the Ikhwanis haven’t abandoned their ruthless and underhand activities despite the claims by previous governments that they were reined in, the villagers of Palpora have complained to the police. 
WOMAN RESISTANCE SUPPORTER MURDERED

She was booked thrice under PSA

January 21: Police recovered bullet-riddled body of Khalida, the woman jailed for many months under the draconian Public Safety Act (PSA) for her alleged links with militants. She was released in December last year from Jammu’s Kot Bhalwal jail after three months imprisonment.

 
Police said the body of Khalida daughter of Habibullah Dar of Bahlihiran Baramulla was recovered in a field at Rafiabad. She had left her home on Saturday (January 20) and was missing since then. Police has registered a case and started investigation. 

 
Khalida was arrested on September 19, 2006 at Mawar Handwara when she was, according to police, on way to meet a militant commander. An FIR 245/2006 was registered against her and she was booked under the PSA, but court quashed her PSA on December 16, 2006 and she was released. 

 
Khalida was arrested for the first time in 2002 and the PSA was slapped on her. Court had quashed her PSA. 
 
She was again arrested in 2004 and released after a few months of detention.

 
In her statement to the high court Judge Justice Hakeem Imtiyaz, Khalida has said that a constable of dreaded Special Operations Group (SOG) named Abdul Rashid had falsely implicated her. “I was at aunt’s home and police arrested me saying I was not a resident of that village,” she had told the Judge.

 
Khalida had stated before the Judge that a woman sub-inspector named Rani of SOG had tortured her during interrogation, said a lawyer who pleaded her case. “She showed the torture marks to the judge and she was later released,” the lawyer said.
CRPF MAN AMONG 2 ARRESTED FOR RAPING MINOR GIRL 
January 21: Two youths, including a CRPF personnel, were arrested on January 21 for allegedly raping a minor girl at Kishtwar in Doda district of Jammu and Kashmir, official sources said.

 
Doda police said an FIR has been registered against Sanjay Kumar of 148 Battalion CRPF (Central Reserve Police Force) located at Kishtwar and a local youth Manoj Kumar alias Dany under RPC 376 for raping the girl who got pregnant.

 
The matter came to the light when Sanjay, son of Nagesh Ram hailing from Raipur in Ballia district of Uttar Pradesh, took the girl to the hospital for abortion, SSP, Doda, Manohar Singh told. 

 
‘’Preliminary questioning has revealed that Sanjay had been raping the girl on the pretext of marriage,’’ the SSP added. 


COP OPENS FIRE IN HABBA KADAL

January 16:  A policeman opened fire on a group of people at Habba Kadal after they objected to his indecent remarks about local girls.

 
Reports said the accused cop Farooq Ahmad (belt No. 316), who was on duty at Dal Hassanyar Habba Kadal, had an altercation with the residents when they objected to his passing obscene remarks on some girls of the locality. 

 
This irked the cop and he opened fire in air. No one was however injured in the incident. 

 
Reports said the cop later beat up Bilal Ahmad Shalla son of Ghulam Muhammad with his service rifle. 

CASE REGISTERED AGAINST SECURITY MEN FOR ATTACKING COPS

SRINAGAR, January 9: Police has registered a case against army men for allegedly attacking policemen at Khar Mode-Awantipora on Srinagar-Jammu national highway.

Reports said a police sub inspector Mohammad Abdullah stopped a vehicle at Awantipora and asked for a lift. The driver Abdul Rehman gave the police officer a lift and dropped him at Khar Mode. 

After dropping Abdullah there, the vehicle started moving ahead. But Rashtriya Rifles (RR) men stopped the vehicle again and asked Rehman to get down which he did. They were furious over the driver stopping his vehicle there and dropping the police officer. The driver was stripped in full public view and severely beaten by the RR personnel.

Abdullah and other cops tried to intervene and save the driver. The army and policemen exchanged hot words and security personnel allegedly used abusive language. The police men were attacked and hawaldar Mohammad Maqbool was thrashed. His rifle was also snatched. 

Large number of people witnessed the incident and they raised slogans against the security men. SHO Awantipora Nisar Ahmad reached the spot and rescued the driver and cop. 

Meanwhile, SHO Awantipora PS reached the spot and diffused the situation by rescuing his men. He later registered a case against 34 RR under FIR 06/07 Section 302. 

ARMY SHIELDING IKHWANI WANTED BY POLICE

SRINAGAR, January 14: Police is finding it difficult to arrest four government gunmen (Ikhwanis), against whom people held protest demonstration at Palpora Handwara yesterday, because the gunmen take shelter in the camp of 33 Rashtriya Rifles battalion of army, police sources said.

 
Taking strong note of protests by the residents of Palpora Handwara against the accused army’s gunmen, police on January 14 ordered a probe into the matter. 

Superintendent of Police (SP) Handwara Haseeb Mughal told that an inquiry committee headed by the Deputy Superintendent of Police (DSP) Handwara has been formed. 

 “Such kind of incidents won’t be tolerated at all,” he added. 

On January 13, hundreds of people of Palpora Handwara demonstrated against the accused gunmen working for 33 Rashtriya Rifles. 

In a written complaint to the District Magistrate the protesters had said the four government gunmen, Fayaz War of Dewaspora, Shabir Rather, Mushtaq Rather of Kukroosa and Ghulam Rasool Lone of Wagat often accompanied by soldiers of 33RR had terrorised the residents of Palpora. 

They also alleged that at the behest of these government gunmen the troops arrested an innocent villager.

Police sources said one of the four accused gunmen, Fayaz War, is wanted by Handwara police in a case of extortion. 

However, the police sources said “he takes refuge in Sodal camp of 33 RR.” 

Police sources said the residents of the Magam belt have asked the officer of the camp to hand over the wanted Ikhwani to police, but army was shielding him. 
FORCES VEHICLES CRUSHED 328 KASHMIRIS IN 16 YRS

Most cases go unreported; Army tops ‘tainted’ list

SRINAGAR, January 8: A 75-year-old man was crushed to death by a speeding Army vehicle in north Kashmir’s Kupwara district on the eve of Eid-al Azha and New Year.

 
Other than “cross-firing” and grenade blasts, hundreds of people lose their lives or get injured in this fashion every year in the Valley, and most of the deaths go unreported. In fact, Director General of Police Gopal Sharma said in a function last year that “more persons get killed in accidents than militancy-related incidents in Kashmir.” 

 
Top police sources told that officially 328 civilians have been killed and 1387 injured in 1107 accidents (in which FIRs have been registered) by speeding vehicles of security forces in the Valley in the past 16 years of armed conflict. 

 
Army tops the list followed by paramilitary Border Security Force and Police. The speeding army vehicles have killed 223 persons and injured 777 in 629 road accidents from 1990 to November 2006.

 
During the last six years in which most of the causalities took place, Army vehicles got involved in 315 accidents, officials said. 

They said 47, 30 and 19 persons were killed and 258, 156, 164 injured in 228, 118 and 109 accidents by speeding vehicle of BSF, CRPF and Police respectively. 

 
ITBP, SSB and Beacon were involved in 23 accidents in which nine persons were killed and 32 injured. 

 
On October 24 last year, Ali Muhammad Bhat and his son Imtiaz Ahmad of Nowgam were killed on the spot when a speeding police vehicle hit them at Natipora here. The incident triggered violent protests against the police, and subsequent clashes left 25 persons, including 10 cops, injured. 

 
“We saw a speeding police vehicle plying on the wrong side wherefrom a motorcycle was approaching. The motorcyclist tried to give way to the vehicle to avoid collision with it. However, the vehicle still plied on the track and smashed the two-wheeler,” the eyewitness had told. Later police arrested the driver and registered a case against him. 

 
Traffic Police officials wishing anonymity expressed their helplessness to take action against the erring troops and cops. “The security forces and policemen drive at high speeds to avoid (militant) attacks on them. This badly disturbs the traffic system and make pedestrians and motorists vulnerable to accidents,” they said. 

 
“In most of the cases, the accused drivers of forces vehicles manage to escape from the spot. FIRs are only registered when people stage protests, and many cases are closed as hit-and-run.” 

 
“Many times our cops tried to take action against the drivers of Army vehicles that break traffic laws but they were assaulted and threatened,” the officials added. 

 
Sources said “most of the times, the vehicles are driven by police and army officers who don’t have even a driving license.” 

 
“As no traffic official dares to fine the speeding drivers in uniform, they become encouraged to drive fast which results in accidents,” they said. 

 
Last year a mobile magistrate of Traffic Department, for the first time, challaned a vehicle of Army, but only for not possessing Pollution Under Control Certificates on court orders, officials said. The Traffic Department fined 5882 vehicles for over-speeding last year but most of them were passenger vehicles. 
SC ADMITS PIL CHALLENGING GRANTS TO SURRENDERED GUNMEN

January 25: The Supreme Court admitted a Public Interest Litigation (PIL) filed by Society for Human Rights and Civil Liberties challenging the policy of the Jammu and Kashmir government to grant financial aid as well as monthly stipend to Kashmiri militants for laying down arms.

 
A Bench, comprising Justices G P Mathur and R V Raveendran, while admitting the petition said the issue raised in the petition was serious and required consideration at length.

According to the petitioner, the State government’s initiative to give non-refundable loan of Rs 3,00,000 to surrendered militants along with a monthly stipend of Rs 3000 per month would send a wrong signal across the country and will encourage the youth to take up arms against the state which in turn would spread militancy to other parts of the country. 

“Fake surrenders are also being encouraged amounting to putting premium on terrorism and militancy,” the petition added.
TEACHER BEATEN BY STF

BHADARWAH, January 6: A teacher who is also President Provincial Teachers Association Tehsil Bhadarwah was subjected to severe beating allegedly by the Special Task Force (STF) of Jammu & Kashmir Police Bhadarwah. 

 
According to the teacher namely Muhammad Ashraf Kelu son of Muhammad Ali Kelu resident of Mohalla Dharampura Bhadarwah, he (Muhammad Ashraf Kelu) was called by police in police station Bhadarwah yesterday in connection with a civil complaint. “I was sitting with the investigation officer inspector Naik Ram Manhas who was recording my statements when STF incharge Bhadarwah Rathore along with his body guards entered and without any provocation started beating me,” Ashraf Kelu disclosed adding that his body guards too beat him mercilessly. 

When Kelu fell unconscious, sensing trouble, the police shifted him to Sub District Hospital Bhadarwah where from he was further rushed to district hospital Doda and today he is being routed to GMC Jammu for specialized treatment. According to the doctors attending him at district hospital Doda, Kelu’s left eye has got damaged because of the blows and punches and has also developed renal problem. 

It is mentionable that Kelu had surrendered himself before police in connection with a case in which a youth had received injury in his abdomen during a scuffle in Sadar Bazar, Bhadarwah on the day of Idd Ul Zuha. 

The said sub-inspector Rathore who hails from Udrana village of Bhadarwah Tehsil was also allegedly involved in a civilian killing at Kishtwar last year and there too he was STF in charge and the murder case against him is still under inquiry with the state government, besides a number of incidents of human rights violations committed allegedly by him there. 

Meanwhile, Provincial Teacher’s Association has strongly condemned the high handedness of the STF in charge Bhadarwah and demanded high level inquiry into the incident. 

GRENADE THROWER WAS WORKING FOR ARMY
January 15: National Conference (NC) told the State Assembly that the youth arrested by police on charges of throwing a grenade on a tourist bus in Srinagar last summer was working for army.

 
Former minister and NC legislator Ali Muhammad Sagar said the state government has not disclosed the identity of the youth, hailing from Nasbal Sumbal, after police claimed he was arrested red handed throwing grenade on a tourist bus in Srinagar. 

8 MORE CRPF COMPANIES TO BE DEPLOYED IN SRINAGAR

January 18: The Central Reserve Police Force (CRPF) said it will deploy an additional eight companies in the summer capital of Jammu and Kashmir to thwart any attempt by militants to create disturbances ahead of the Republic Day.

 
CRPF spokesman Prabhakar Tripathi told that the force as many as ten companies have been released for enhancing the security levels in both Jammu and Srinagar for the Republic Day.

 
Out of these, he said eight companies would be deployed in Srinagar and two in Jammu.

FORMER MILITANT’S THROAT SLIT

January 18: Reports from Shopian said that police recovered the beheaded body of a released militant, namely Fayaz Ahmed Hajam son of Mohammad Yusuf Hajam of Kursoo, Rajbagh, Srinagar from Nayidgam. He had been reportedly kidnapped by suspected militants from Srinagar and later beheaded in Shopian area. He had been working as a mechanic after his release from jail. 


Al Badr militant organisation claimed the responsibility of his killing. The organisation claimed his links with army as he was working for them as an informer. 

3 CRPF MEN KILLED IN PULWAMA

In retaliation CRPF torches houses

South Kashmir, January 23: Three paramilitary Central Reserve Police Force (CRPF) troopers were killed and five others injured in a powerful IED blast triggered by Hizbul Mujahideen militants in south Kashmir’s Islamabad district on Tuesday (January 23) afternoon. After the blast the troopers went berserk, setting ablaze three residential houses and two shops, and thrashed many civilians, including some women. Police said it has registered a case against the CRPF personnel “who indulged in arson after the IED blast.”

Officials said a CRPF vehicle (No. MH 14V/7506) belonging to its 143 battalion ran over the IED planted by the militants near Brah-Bondina Panzgam, around 45 kilometers from Srinagar. 

In the blast, eight CRPF personnel were injured. They were rushed to the Sher-e-Kashmir Institute of Medical Sciences (SKIMS) Srinagar for treatment where three troopers identified as constables Thomas, SK Mishra and Radio operator Ganesh succumbed to their injuries, CRPF spokesman Prabhakar Tripathi told.

 Eyewitnesses said the CRPF personnel went on rampage after the blast and torched the residential houses of Shabir Ahmed Bhat son of Muhammad Ismail, Ghulam Muhammad Lone and Abdul Gaffar Wani son of Abdul Jabbar. They also set ablaze two shops. 

Some villagers who managed to escape from the besieged village told that eight people including six women were severely beaten by the angry troopers. The CRPF men allegedly misbehaved with three sisters identified as Rozi, Arfia and Dilshada before beating them to the pulp, the villagers told.

Blood was oozing out from a woman’s head who had delivered a baby 15 days ago. “Troopers hit me with gun butts,” she said. 

Dr Amjad, who was attending the patients, said, “We have put stitches on the forehead of the nursing mother injured by the troops and we have provided first aid to other injured girls.” 

However, the CRPF spokesman refuted the allegations. He said, “Fire started after the IED blast and it engulfed the houses. Troopers didn’t thrash anybody. They instead tried to put off the fire.” 

Army and CRPF prevented photojournalists from entering the village. A police spokesman said the police has registered a case against the CRPF personnel “who indulged in arson after the IED blast.”

Hizbul Mujahideen claimed responsibility for the attack.

CRPF TO COMPENSATE FOR TORCHING HOUSES IN KASHMIR

On January 26 CRPF said it would pay compensation to all the people whose houses were torched by its personnel after an IED blast at Panzgam village near Awantipora in Pulwama district on January 23.

CRPF Inspector General Vipin Kumar Sharma said the force would pay adequate compensation to the villagers whose houses were torched by its personnel after the explosion.

He also said the CRPF would provide a one-month free ration to the affected families.

A first information report (FIR) (number 12/2007) under section 436 Cr PC had been filed at the Awantipora police station against the CRPF. 

EVE TEASING SPARKS ANTI-CRPF DEMONSTRATION 

POLICE REGISTERS CASE AGAINST ERRING OFFICER

January 29: The alleged eve teasing and harassment of girls by the paramilitary CRPF personnel triggered massive protests in Islamabad (Anantnag) district of south Kashmir on January 29.

 
Reports said thousands of people from Banagund village in picturesque Verinag area poured on the streets, demanding punishment to a Sub-Inspector (SI) of the CRPF’s 142 battalion who has been harassing the girls, including two sisters, in the past three days.

Ghulam Muhammad Malik, father of the two girls, said, “The SI along with dozens of personnel raided my house on the night of January 26. We took it as a routine search but were shocked when the SI began asking questions to my daughters, and ordered me and my wife to leave the room.”

Malik said, “The SI told me ‘we haven’t come for searching your house but to talk to your girls.’ When I resisted, he abused us.”

The uncle of the girls said the officer revisited their house the next day. “He again passed indecent comments to the women,” he said. 

“I decided to report the matter to the police but couldn’t,” Malik said. “The CRPF officer turned again on the night of January 28 at 11.30 pm and ordered the cops to drag me and my wife out of the house.”

“Why were you troubling us for last three days? We wouldn’t leave our daughters alone in the house? Talk to me if you (SI) has any problem,” Malik said he shouted at the CRPF officer.

“But he pushed me down. He said, ‘Don’t interrupt me, or you would regret. We don’t need to search your house’.” 

Malik said he raised an alarm, catching the attention of the neighbours. Seeing the villagers, the CRPF men fled the spot. “We went to the CRPF camp and demanded action against the SI. The Commanding Officer assured us of taking immediate action against the accused officer and promised to visit the area,” said Malik.

When contacted the Station House Officer, Verinag Police Station said, “We have registered a case against the accused SI and have started the investigation.” 

PROTESTS IN BARAMULLA OVER FIRING, ARREST OF 2 YOUTH

January 28: The people of Azad Gunj, Baramulla held demonstrations against the soldiers who they alleged opened fire on a sawmill worker on January 28 afternoon.

“The troops barged into the premises of Muhammad Sultan Dar where he runs a sawmill. They opened fire on a worker namely Bilal Ahmad who miraculously managed to escape unhurt,” the protesters said, adding, “The troops later claimed recovery of an IED from the premises.” 

According to the protesters, the claims made by the troops were baseless. 

“The army intentionally planted an IED in the premises and later claimed its recovery,” the protestors said. They were also demanding the release of two persons who were arrested by troops on Saturday (January 27) following a firing incident on January 26. The detained are Riyaz Ahmad Sofi, a shopkeeper and Ghulam Nabi Buhru. 

Defence spokesman Lt. Colonel Mathur told, “The troops heard some gunshots fired from the house on January 26, and on the next day two persons were detained for questioning. The demonstrators by holding protests on Sunday were pressuring for their release, and while seeing the patrolling party, they believed that they might make some more arrests.” 

Mathur termed the protesters allegations baseless, saying, “The troops didn’t open any fire and neither recovered any IED from the spot.” 

Senior Superintendent Police, Viplav Kumar said the police was looking into the people’s allegations against the troops.

“If the detained persons are innocent, they will be released immediately,” he said. 

OFFICIAL STATEMENTS

· DROP IN HR VIOLATIONS, COUNTER MILITANCY OPERATIONS TO CONTINUE WITH VIGOUR: SINHA

JAMMU, January 8: Maintaining that incidents of violence have sharply gone down in 2006, the Governor Lt Gen. (Retd) S K Sinha told the legislators while addressing joint sitting of the Legislature in Central Hall of Legislature that year 2006 witnessed a decline of 16 per cent in the number of terrorist incidents and 28 per cent in civilian killings. He pointed out that the number of civilian killings in a calendar year has been the lowest in 2006 since eruption of militancy in the State.

 
"There has been no let-up in counter-militancy operations which continue with same vigour aimed at restoration of total normalcy. Army, para-military and police have been doing commendable work in combating terrorist violence", he said and noted that in the process 151 officers and jawans of these forces have laid down their lives last year.

 
The Governor observed that not only the terrorist violence, the allegations of custodial death and disappearances have also progressively declined during last four years, which he described, as a positive sign. 51 detainees were released from jails during 2006.

· RIGHTS ABUSE HAVE NOT STOPPED

Jammu, Jan 11: National Conference rebutted the government claims that in the past two years there has been decrease in the incidents of human rights violations in legislative Assembly at Jammu.

Earlier in reply to a question by Sakina Itoo seeking the number of persons arrested under Public Safety Act (PSA) and other Acts, number of custodial deaths, and the number of detainees lodged in different jails of India, Consumer Affairs and Public Distribution (CAPD) minister Taj Mohi-ud-Din on behalf of home minister told Legislative Council that human rights violation incidents have not increased.

 
He informed the house that 853 persons have been detained for involvement in various militancy cases and there have been 11 custodial deaths in the state during 2006. 

Not satisfied to the minister’s reply, Sakina Itoo said the government has no control over troops to check the human rights violations. She cited the examples of Qazigund, Surankote, and Kishtwar and said that the recent incidents of human rights violations deflated the government claims. Itoo said that during 2006 there have been 24 custodial killings in the state.

Taj Mohiddin said that no Kashmiri militant has been lodged outside state’s jails. He said the state jails have a capacity of 3100 persons and presently 2310 persons are lodged in various jails. He said that however, the “hardcore foreign detainees who violate the jail discipline are shifted outside the state”. 

Taj Mohiuddin further said, “79 inquiries have been initiated in custodial killings, cross firing, and rape incidents since 1990. He said 35 committees have submitted their reports and 44 of them have yet to submit their reports.” 

· HUMAN RIGHTS VIOLATIONS DECLINES: CM

JAMMU, January 12: Chief Minister (CM) said that during the last seventeen years especially from the time democratic dispensation took over, there has been gradual decline in human rights violations. Giving figures on this account, he said custodial killings dropped from 57 in 1993 to only 4 in 2006, while as only one custodial disappearance has been registered last year.

· OVER 1,000 YOUTH MISSING SINCE 1990

JAMMU, January 22: As many as 1017 youth stand missing in the troubled state of Jammu and Kashmir since the rise of militancy in 1990. This information was given by the state government in the Legislative Council in reply to a question tabled by opposition member G.N. Shaheen in Jammu on January 22.

The Government stated that under a survey carried out by the authorities it had been found that 1017 youth were missing during the last 17 years. Baramulla district in north Kashmir was on the top with 433 youth having been found missing since 1990 and this was followed by 153 in south Kashmir’s Anantnag district. It said that as a result of militancy related violence as many as 3654 women had become widows as their husbands had either been killed by the rebels or had died in the crossfire between militants and the security forces. And the same violence had turned 11336 kids and teenagers as orphans. 

· ALL MISSING NOT DEAD: AZAD      

January 31: Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad said Wednesday that all the missing persons are not dead. “The allegation leveled against the security forces that they have subjected all missing persons to enforced disappearance is wrong. The fact is that most of the missing youth have gone to other Side of Line of Control (LOC) to seek arms training,” 

The Chief Minister however said, “I am not telling that all the missing persons are alive but saying that all have been killed by the forces is not correct.”

NEWS IN BRIEF

· SOLDIER KILLS COLLEAGUE 
January 1: Officials said Hari Krishan Pandey of the 22 Mechanized Infantry shot dead Naik Om Inder Kumar after an altercation in Ratnuchak army camp in the outskirts of Jammu city on Sunday (December 31) night.

Army spokesman Colonel S. D. Goswami told the accused soldier has been handed over to police, and Army has ordered a court of inquiry into the case.

· BSF MAN COMMITS SUICIDE

January 21: Panic gripped the Governor House, Cheshmashahi, Srinagar when C.P. Nishad of 143 BN paramilitary Border Security Force (BSF) shot himself with his service rifle. He died on the spot.  

· CRPF MAN COMMITS SUICIDES

January 23: CRPF trooper identified as Babu Lal of 68 battalion shot himself dead at Maulana Azad stadium in Jammu, police said. The stadium is the venue of the R-Day parade in the winter capital.

· BSF MAN COMMITS SUICIDE

January 27: A paramilitary BSF trooper shot himself dead in frontier district of Kupwara on Friday (January 26) night. Official sources said head constable Hari-Om-Sharma of 133 battalion BSF fired upon himself from a point blank range with his service riffle at Natnusa Kupwara, Kashmir in the BSF camp. He was rushed to a hospital where doctors declared him brought dead. 

· CIVILIAN DISAPPEARS

January 26: A civilian Shaheen Ahmad Naik of Ahlan Zadora Kokernag is reportedly missing for the past few days from Chakpora Nowgam in the outskirts of Srinagar.  

· MAN MISSING

January 28: A 35-year-old man Bahar Ahmed Malik son of Ghulam Muhammad of Khoribatpora Kulgam is missing since December 15, 2006.

Bahar’s family members said Bahar disappeared under mysterious circumstances. Police has filed a case but his whereabouts are unknown.

· POLICE ARRESTS WOMAN HUMAN RIGHT ACTIVIST

SRINAGAR, January 13: Police has arrested Shabana Akhtar of Barzulla Rawathpora during a raid at her residence on January 4 accusing her of involvement in militancy. News reports said police station Sadder has arrested Shabana Akhtar, 25, daughter of Muhammad Yaseen Khan of Rawthpora and registered an FIR 4/2007 against her on charges of links with militants. The girl is working with a human rights group. 
· MOULVIS HARASSED IN DOWNTOWN

January 24: Unidentified persons are harassing Moulvis (religious scholars) imparting religious education in Darsgahs (religious centers) in downtown area of Srinagar from the past few days. News reports quoting a delegation said some the persons in civvies harass the Maulvis and caretakers of the Darsgahs, charging them of having links with militants. The delegation said police has failed to take any action despite repeated reminders.

CHRONOLOGY OF INCIDENTS IN THE MONTH OF JANUARY 2007
January 1: No incident of violence reported. 

January 2: Three militants including one of Al Badr were killed in separate incidents of violence while a soldier committed suicide. 

January 3: One Junior Commissioned Officer (JCO) and two other soldiers were injured in a militant attack. 

January 4: Four militants of JUM were killed in an encounter with troops while a youth died when a grenade exploded in his hand. 

January 5: One JAKLI soldier died when his service rifle went off accidentally at Haft Chinar, Srinagar where he was posted. 

January 6: Three civilians and one policeman were killed in violence related incidents while police recovered a dead body from Rajouri, Jammu.

January 7: Two JeM militants and one Territorial army personnel were killed in violence related incidents while a throat slit body of a youth identified as Faisal Amin son of Mohammad Amin of Matoo, Sopore was recovered from an orchard.   

January 8: Two militants including one LeT militant and a teenager were killed in separate incidents of violence. 

January 9: One LeT militant killed in Gool encounter while two soldiers of Territorial Army who were injured in a grenade explosion at Shopain on January 6 succumbed to their injuries. 

January 10: One LeT militant was killed in an encounter with troops. 

January 11: One militant died in an encounter with troops in Handwara area of Kupwara district.  

January 12: No incident of violence reported from any part of the state, however, an IED was defused by Road Opening Party on the Srinagar-Jammu highway. 

January 13: Two Let militants were killed in an encounter with troops at Sumlar, Bandipore while a civilian died in the same encounter whose father accused the troops of using his son as human shield during the encounter. 

January 14: No incident of violence reported. 

January 15: The aide of Kuka Parray was shot at from point blank range by the militants.

January 16: One army personnel and one civilian were killed in violence related incidents. 

January 17: Three HM militants were killed in violence related incident in Kulgam.

January 18: One HM militant killed in Kulgam encounter while a throat slit body of a former militant was recovered from Pulwama district. 

January 19: No incident of violence reported. 

January 20: Two HuM militants were killed in an encounter with troops at Doda. 

January 21: Dead bodies of a woman and a HM militant were recovered from two separate places in the valley. 

January 22: A BSF personnel ends his life by using his official weapon at Governor House at Chesmashahi, Srinagar.  

January 23: Three CRPF personnel were killed in an explosive triggered by militants in Pulwama.

January 24: One civilian hailing from Pattan succumbed to his injuries which he received in a grenade explosion in Pattan on January 23 

January 25: One labourer was allegedly killed by troops in a fake encounter in the valley.  

January 26: Two militants including one HM militant were killed in separate incidents of violence. 

January 27: A paramilitary BSF trooper shot himself dead in frontier district of Kupwara. 
January 28: Militants attacked an army convoy with hand grenades on Srinagar-Jammu national highway but no damage was done.  

January 29: Two army men, one SOG personnel, two HM militants and three civilians were killed in separate incidents of violence. 

January 30: One army soldier and a boy injured in separate incidents of violence. 

January 31: Grenade lobbed at the Hurriyat headquarters at Raj Bagh but there was no damage.
KILLINGS IN THE MONTH OF JANUARY 2007
	DATE 
	SOLDIERS
	MILITANTS
	CIVILIANS
	OTHERS

	January 1
	-
	-
	-
	-

	January 2
	1
	3
	-
	-

	January 3
	1
	-
	-
	-

	January 4
	-
	4
	-
	1

	January 5
	1
	-
	-
	-

	January 6
	1
	-
	3
	1 dead body recovered 

	January 7 
	1
	2
	1
	-

	January 8
	-
	2
	1
	-

	January 9
	2
	1
	-
	-

	January 10
	-
	1
	-
	-

	January 11
	-
	1
	-
	-

	January 12
	-
	-
	-
	-

	January 13
	-
	2
	1
	-

	January 14
	-
	-
	-
	-

	January 15
	-
	-
	-
	-

	January 16
	1
	-
	1
	-

	January 17
	-
	3
	-
	-

	January 18
	-
	1
	-
	1 former militant

	January 19 
	-
	-
	-
	-

	January 20
	-
	2
	-
	-

	January 21
	-
	1
	-
	Dead body of a woman recovered 

	January 22
	1
	-
	-
	-

	January 23 
	3
	-
	-
	-

	January 24
	-
	-
	1
	-

	January 25
	-
	-
	1
	-

	January 26
	-
	2
	-
	-

	January 27
	1
	-
	-
	-

	January 28
	-
	-
	-
	-

	January 29
	3
	2
	3
	-

	January 30
	-
	-
	-
	-

	January 31
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Total
	16
	27
	12
	4

	                           General Total
	59


	Date 
	C.K / EJK
	Women 
	Children 
	Alleged disappearances 

	January 8 
	-
	-
	1
	-

	January 21
	-
	1
	-
	-

	January 25
	1 EJK
	-
	-
	-

	January 4
	-
	-
	-
	1

	January 28
	1 EJK
	-
	-
	-

	Total 
	2
	1
	1
	1



VICTIMS





Shamsuddin


Shabir


Jehangir


Junaid


Sayeeda


Jana Begum 


Md. Aashiq 


Maryam





Women / Children killed


January 7: Suspected militants shot dead Sajjad Ahmad Mir, a 9th class student, at village Indergam in Baramulla district of North Kashmir.


 


January 21: Police recovered bullet-riddled body of Khalida, the woman jailed for many months under the draconian Public Safety Act (PSA) for her alleged links with militants. She was released in December last year from Jammu’s Kot Bhalwal jail after three months imprisonment.


 	Police said the body of Khalida, daughter of Habibullah Dar of Bahlihiran Baramulla was recovered in a field at Rafiabad. She had left her home on January 20 and was missing since then. Police has registered a case.
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